Public Document Pack
Copeland Borough Council
The Market Hall
Market Place
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG

PLANNING PANEL
AGENDA
Venue:
Date:
Time:
Contact Officer:

This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore
will not take place in a physical location
Wednesday, 3rd March, 2021
2.00 pm
Clive Willoughby
Tel: 01946 598328

1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:

3.

Minutes of the meeting held on 17 February 2021

4.

Schedule of Applications
a)

Application 4/20/2461/0O1 - Weston, Beckermet

1-4

5 - 22

Outline Application for redevelopment of builders yard to
residential for up to four properties.
b)

Application 4/20/2468/0O1 - Land to North East of
Seabreeze Lodge, Nethertown, Egremont

23 - 44

Outline application for residential development for two
dwellings including approval of access.
c)

Application 4/20/2491/0O1 - Land to South of Southrigg,
Nethertown Road, St Bees

45 - 62

Outline application for residential development.
d)

Application 4/21/2007/0F1 - Land to rear of 29 Mid Street,
Kells, Whitehaven

63 - 68

Application for the erection of a garage.
5.

Schedule of Delegated Decisions

69 - 76

6.

Date and Time of Next Meeting:
The next meeting of the Planning Panel will be held on
Wednesday 17 March 2021 at 2:00pm.
This will be a virtual meeting.

Membership: Councillors Joan Hully (Chair), Doug Wilson (Deputy Chair),
Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin, Tom Higgins, Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath,
Michael McVeigh, Graham Minshaw, Brian O'Kane and Russell Studholme
Contacts:

Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail:
clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3
PLANNING PANEL
MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 17 FEBRUARY 2021

Present: Councillors Joan Hully (Chair), Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin,
Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, Brian O'Kane and Doug Wilson.
Officers: Nick Hayhurst (Planning and Place Manager), Christopher Harrison
(Principal Planning Officer), Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer) and
Rose Blaney (Electoral and Democratic Services Officer)

PP 20/117

Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael McVeigh,
Graham Minshaw and Russell Studholme.

PP 20/118

Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:

Councillor Ged McGrath declared a pecuniary interest in Agenda Item 5
(Delegated Decision) Application 4/20/2508/2PO – due to being the Applicant.
Councillor Brian O’Kane declared a non-pecuniary interest in Application 4a
(4/20/2043/0O1 – Land at Trumpet Road, Cleator Moor) due to knowing the
Applicant.
Councillor Joan Hully declared a non-pecuniary interest in Application 4a
(4/20/2043/0O1 – Land at Trumpet Road, Cleator Moor) due to being the Chair
of Cleator Moor Town Council and knowing the Applicants Agent.
Councillor Joan Hully also declared a non-pecuniary interest in Application 4b
(4/20/2476/0F1 – Grove Court Hotel, Cleator) due to being the Chair of Cleator
Moor Town Council.

Page 1

PP 20/119

Minutes of the meetings held on 13 January 2021 and 20 January 2021.

Consideration was given to the Minutes of the meetings held on
13 January 2021 and 20 January 2021.
A vote was then taken by way of a roll call.
On a vote of 7 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstention, it was therefore:RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meetings held on 13 January 2021 and
20 January 2021 be signed by the Chair as a correct record.

PP 20/120

Schedule of Applications

The planning applications were then taken in the following order.

PP 20/121

Application 4/20/2043/0O1 - Land at Trumpet Road, Cleator Moor

The Outline Application for residential development for 11 dwellings including
access position (resubmission), was presented by the Principal Planning Officer.
During discussion of this item, representations in objection were received from
Mrs P Robinson, Mr A McClelland, Mrs J McClelland, Mr N Johnston,
Mr A Gidney and Mr H Edgar. A written submission from Cleator Moor Town
Council was also read by the Principal Planning Officer.
Mr N Bunn and Mr N Folland spoke in support of the application, followed by
the Applicant’s Agent, Mr M Sandelands, who exercised his right to respond.
A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call.
The result of the vote was 3 For, 4 Against and 0 Abstentions.
RESOLVED – that the application be Deferred as Members were minded to
refuse the application against the Planning Officer’s recommendation.

Page 2

PP 20/122

Application 4/20/2476/0F1 - Grove Court Hotel, Cleator

The Application for the proposed redevelopment of an existing hotel to
accommodate 13 supported living units, along with associated communal
facilities and staff office spaces, was presented by the Principal Planning Officer.
During discussion of this item, representation was received from the Applicant,
Mr K Davidson.
A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call.
The result of the vote was 7 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions.
RESOLVED – that the Outline application be Approved.

PP 20/123

Schedule of Delegated Decisions

The Panel was notified of a number of delegated decisions made during the
period 12 January 2021 to 5 February 2021.
RESOLVED – that the Schedule of Delegated Decisions from 12 January 2021 to
5 February 2021 be noted.

PP 20/124

Planning Appeal Decision

Members were informed of the outcome of a recent Appeal decision in respect
of Tow Low, Low Moresby, Whitehaven.
RESOLVED – that the decision to DISMISS the appeal be noted in the context of
the Local Plan Policies and also in relation to performance monitoring.

PP 20/125

Date and Time of Next Meetings:

The next meetings of the Planning Panel will be held on Wednesday
3 March 2021 at 2:00pm and Wednesday 17 March 2021 at 2:00pm.
Both will be virtual meetings.
The Meeting closed at 4.25 pm
Chair

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4a

To: PLANNING PANEL

Development Control Section

Date of Meeting: 03/03/2021

Application Number:

4/20/2461/0O1

Application Type:

Outline : CBC

Applicant:

Mr B Atkinson

Application Address:

WESTON, BECKERMET

Proposal

OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION FOR
REDEVELOPMENT OF BUILDERS YARD TO
RESIDENTIAL FOR UP TO 4 PROPERTIES

Parish:

Haile

Recommendation Summary:

Refuse

Page 5

Crown Copyright. Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005).

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel
This application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the Parish
Council have determined to support this application which is contrary to Officer
recommendation.

Site and Location
The application relates to a site, known as “Weston”, which is located to the south east of
the Hamlet known as “Oaklands”. The site covers an area of 0.34 hectare and currently
comprises the detached dwelling Weston, and an existing builders yard and office forming
the administrative base of Atkinsons Builders who currently employ 8 people.
The site is accessed directly from the A595 and benefits from a number of mature trees, the
majority of which are protected by Tree Preservation Orders (TPO). The site is located
outside of any settlement boundary and is bounded to the north west by an existing
residential dwelling, to the east by open countryside, and to the south by the A595.

Page 6

Proposal
This outline application seeks to establish the principle of developing the site for residential
purposes for up to four dwellings. All matters relating to layout, scale, appearance, access
and landscaping are reserved for future consideration.
Whilst all matters are reserved for subsequent approval, an indicative layout plan has been
submitted with this application to show how the site could accommodate four detached
dwellings. The indicative layout shows that three of the detached dwellings will be located
to the south east of the detached dwelling, Weston, which currently accommodates the
existing business use. A further detached dwelling is proposed to the north west of the
dwelling.
It is anticipated that all four dwellings will be dormer style properties.
This application is accompanied by the following documentation:
-

Location Plan;
An Indicative Site Plan;
Indicative Floor Plans;
Planning Statement.

Relevant Planning Application History
4/09/2355/0 – Remove 4 cypress trees and 3 acer trees protected by a TPO – Approved
4/04/2725/0 – Relocation of building business – Approved
4/90/0259/0 – Outline for bungalow - Refused

Consultation Responses
Haile Parish Council
Whilst Haile and Wilton Parish Council support this application in principle, the Parish
Council would be more comfortable with 3 properties. This may change once the detailed
planning application is submitted.
Highways England
Highways England recommend that conditions should be attached to any planning
permission that may be granted at this site.
Cumbria County Council – Cumbria Highways & Lead Local Flood Authority

Page 7

The proposed development accesses the A595 which is maintained by Highways England.
Cumbria Highways therefore do not have any comments to make other than advisory
remarks and your authority should consult Highways England for their recommendations.
Cumbria Highways would like to point out the importance of on-site parking and turning as
reversing onto the A595 would not be acceptable. Assuming, that each of the proposed
dwellings will be 3no. bedrooms then they suggest that a minimum of two parking spaces
per dwelling are provided with adequate space for turning provided with the inclusion of
inter-visibility between each of the dwellings on site as per the guidance supplied in the
Cumbria Development Design Guide.
Normally Cumbria Highways would recommend that the access is at least 4.1m in width for
the first 10m into the site from the highway, however, the existing access appears to be of a
good width to allow for two vehicles to pass one another. The applicant should also provide
a plan demonstrating the proposed surface water drainage methods.
United Utilities
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system with
foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable
way.
Copeland Borough Council – Flood and Coastal Defence Engineer
No objections to the proposed development.
Copeland Borough Council – Strategic Planning Policy
Core Strategy and Development Management policies 2013
The Planning Statement acknowledges that the site forms part of the hamlet of Oakland,
outside of the settlement boundaries, and is separate from the Key Service Centres and
Local Centres identified in the hierarchy in Policy ST2 of the Core Strategy. Sites outside of
defined settlement boundaries are classed as being within the open countryside, meaning
that development of the site would be contrary to Policy ST2. Development in these areas is
limited to that which meets the defined needs of the local population (such as Rural
Exception Sites), which needs to be proven in all cases.
The parts of the Policy which refer to the settlement boundaries (identified on the Core
Strategy Proposals Map) are considered to be “out-of-date”, regardless of the housing land
supply position. This is because the development of the emerging Local Plan has indicated
that in order to meet housing needs identified in the SHMA, development will be required
outside of those boundaries over the Plan period. Given this, these parts of the policy are
not considered to accord with the NPPF which requires local authorities to significantly
boost housing land supply and can therefore be given little weight.
Emerging Local Plan 2017-2035

Page 8

The Council’s Preferred Options Draft of the Local Plan has recently undergone a
consultation period. The relationship between the site and the draft settlement boundaries
remains the same in the emerging Local Plan 2017-2035.
The emerging Local Plan is however at an early, informal stage and there are unresolved
objections to the relevant policies (including the proposed settlement hierarchy). Given this,
the policies within the draft can be given very little weight at this stage.
Housing Provision
The development would provide a small number of rural market homes, however it is not
clear how these would reflect local needs as no reference has been made to the Strategic
Housing Market Assessment or Housing Needs Study in the application. The application
does not state that the homes will be provided for local occupancy.
In November 2029, the Council produced a Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement which
demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites against the emerging housing
requirement and a 55 year supply against the Government’s standard methodology figure.
Access to facilities and services
As previously mentioned, the site is situated in the open countryside, with limited access to
key services and facilities. Whilst there are a number of services in neighbouring Beckermet,
as listed in the Planning Statement, there is no suitable, safe walking route between them
and the application site.
The site lies approximately 0.6 miles away from the settlement of Thornhill, and there
appears to be a continuous pavement. However, this is poorly lit, and therefore likely to
only be used during the day. There are also limited services in Thornhill, with one village
shop/ post office approximately 0.9 miles from the application site. Given this, it is unlikely
that residents of the proposed dwellings would visit Thornhill, and would instead be likely to
opt for driving to larger settlements such as Egremont. Therefore it is unlikely that
development of this site would contribute to supporting the existing rural settlements of
Beckermet and Thornhill.
Given the site’s isolated location, away from services, development would be contrary to
the following NPPF paragraphs:


Paragraph 78 as it is unlikely to enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities
given the poor pedestrian connections to services within neighbouring villages and
the likelihood that residents would drive to nearby towns for amenities.
 Paragraph 79, which states the development of isolated homes in the open
countryside should be avoided unless certain circumstances apply.
Development of brownfield land
Paragraph 17 of the NPPF states that planning should “encourage the effective use of land
by reusing land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not
of high environmental value”. Further to this, policies ST1 and SS2 outline the requirement
for 50% of new housing development to be provided on brownfield sites. This proposal
would contribute towards achieving this target.

Page 9

Loss of existing employment
The development would result in the loss of 1,690sqm ‘B’use employment floor space, and
the resultant loss of 8 jobs. This has potential for negative impacts on the local economy.
The applicant has not commented on the future of the current commercial use or provided
evidence to justify the loss of a rural employment site. Whilst the site is not allocated for
employment (primarily due to its size), the NPPF paragraph 80 states that “significant
weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking
into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.” It is not
clear whether wider opportunities for alternative commercial uses on the site have been
sought.
The Planning Statement states that a residential use would be a better neighbour to
adjacent residential properties, however the impact of the existing commercial use on the
amenities of neighbours would have been taken into account, and deemed to be
acceptable, when the application for the commercial use was approved in 2004. The impact
of any alternative, future commercial use would be taken into account at application stage,
where consideration would be given to NPPF paragraph 84.
Traffic concerns
It is anticipated that 4 additional dwellings could result in approximately 8 additional cars on
the site, in addition to visitors and deliveries. The rural nature of the site and limited public
transport accessibility means that development would be heavily reliant on cars for day to
day activities. The level of existing traffic from the building yard is unclear. Full consideration
ought to be given to the change in traffic movements, and the impact this could have on
climate change, prior to decision making.
Previous appeal decisions
In June 2019, an appeal was dismissed for planning application 4/18/2477/0O1 in the
settlement of Lamplugh on the grounds that: “The delivery of three additional dwellings
within the Borough would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the isolated nature
of the proposed site with respect to services and facilities and its reliance on private car.”
A further appeal in Lamplugh, application 4/19/2262/PIP was also dismissed in September
2020, again, on the basis of reduced accessibility to key services and facilities. This also
refers to the lack of footpaths and adequate street lighting, further restricting accessibility.
The application site has distinct similarities with both of these dismissed appeals, with
particular regard the poor connectivity of the proposed developments to shops and
services.
Rural exception site
The application appears to be for market housing. Policy SS3 of the Copeland Core Strategy
states that outside of the settlements listed in the settlement hierarchy, housing
development will be supported only on rural exception sites that meet certain criteria listed

Page 10

in paragraph 5.4.6. Should the applicant wish to bring forward the site as a rural exception
site it is recommended that they engage in pre-application discussions with the Council first.
Summary
The Council can now demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites as
identified in the Housing Land Supply Position Paper 2020, however as stated above one of
the most important policies relating to the application is partly out-of-date, albeit for a
different reason. The tilted balance is therefore engaged.
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that where policies which are most important for
determining the application are out-of-date, permission should be granted unless:
I.

II.

“the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”

The Strategic Planning Team considers that there are a number of adverse impacts
associated with the development. These include conflict with the NPPF and previous local
appeal decisions, the relatively isolated location and increased reliance on the private car
and the impact on the rural economy through the loss of an employment site. It is
considered that these impacts significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of
development, which comprise the provision of a small number of homes in an isolated
location and potential improvements to the amenities of neighbouring residents through
the loss of commercial use. We are therefore unable to support the application as it stands.
Capita – Consultant Arboricultural Officer
The site is currently used as a builders yard. It is a rectangular area of land surrounded by
trees and hedges with a number of trees internal to the site. No arboricultural information
has been provided with the outline application. Therefore, should the application prove
acceptable, a condition requiring detailed arboricultural information must be attached to
the decision letter.
Resilience Unit
No comments received.
Public Representation
This application was advertised by way of site notice and neighbour notification letters
issued to three residential properties. No comments have been received in relation to this
statutory notification procedure.

Page 11

Planning Policy
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan
Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)
Core Strategy
Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles
Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy
Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer
Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth
Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability
Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport
Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management
Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes
Development Management Policies (DMP)
Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place
Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards
Policy DM12 – Standards of New Residential Developments
Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments
Policy DM24 – Development Proposal and Flood Risk
Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species
Policy DM26 – Landscaping
Policy DM28 – Protection of Trees
Copeland Local Plan 2001-2016 (LP):
Saved Policy TSP8 - Parking Requirements
Proposals Map including settlement boundaries.
Other Material Planning Considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
National Design Guide (NDG).

Page 12

Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDG)
Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2019 (SHMA)
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR).
Copeland Borough Council Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023 (CBCHS)
The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLGC)
Emerging Copeland Local Plan:
The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 was recently subject to a Preferred Options
Consultation which ended on 30th November 2020. The Preferred Options Consultation
builds upon the completed Issues and Options Consultation which finished in January 2020.
Given the stage of preparation, the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has only
limited weight in decision making, but provides an indication of the direction of travel of the
emerging planning policies, which themselves have been developed in accordance with the
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Assessment
The primary issues relevant to the determination of this application are:
-

The principle of the development;
Access to services and facilities;
Housing need;
Landscape and visual impacts;
Design & impact on residential amenity;
Access, parking and highway safety;
Drainage and Flood Risk;
Trees.

Principle of Development
The principle of new housing is supported in the Copeland Local Plan through strategic
policies ST1 and ST2 along with policies SS1, SS2 and SS3. These policies seek to promote
sustainable development to meet the needs and aspirations of the Boroughs housing
market, as well as having consideration for the requirements of smaller settlements within
the Borough, which respect their scale and function.
The application site is located within a small Hamlet, known as Oaklands. Policy ST2 of the
Copeland Local Plan identified Oaklands as ‘outside settlement boundaries’. Policy ST2 of
the Copeland Local Plan states that outside of the defined settlement boundaries,
development is restricted to that which has a proven requirement for such a location,
including housing that meets proven specific and local needs including provision for
agricultural workers, replacement dwellings, replacement of residential caravans, affordable
housing and the conversion of rural buildings to residential use. A proven requirement for

Page 13

the proposed development has not been demonstrated; therefore, the requirements of
Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan have not been achieved with this application.
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires the application of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development to the provision of housing where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the
application are out-of-date. Out of date includes where the Local Planning Authority cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as
set out in paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of
housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the
previous three years.
In November 2020, Copeland Borough Council produced a Five Year Housing Land Supply
Statement which demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites against the
emerging housing requirement calculated in the updated Strategic Housing Market
Assessment (SHMA) and a 55 year supply against the Government’s standard methodology
figure. Copeland Borough Council has also met the most recent Housing Delivery Test.
Notwithstanding the above, the policies in the Local Plan must still be considered out of
date and only some weight can be given their content as far as they are consistent with the
provisions of the NPPF.
Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft (ECLP) ended in
December 2020. The ECLP will, once adopted, replace the policies of the adopted Local Plan.
The ECLP has been drafted based upon an evidence base. The SHMA calculates a housing
need in Copeland over the plan period 2017-2035 of 140 dwellings per annum. The ECLP
confirms that to meet the housing need identified in the SHMA, development will be
required beyond the existing development boundaries identified in Policy ST2 of the CS.
The ECLP continues to identify Oaklands as within open countryside, as it is not considered
to be a sustainable location. Whilst the proposed development is in conflict with the
emerging policies and provisions of the ECLP, as the document is at an early stage of
preparation and there are outstanding objections to the relevant policies applicable to this
development, the identified conflict can be given little weight at present.
In the context of the provisions of Paragraph 11, the Council’s defined settlement
boundaries are considered to be out of date. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that
planning permission should be granted unless:
i.
ii.

The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Access to Services and Facilities
Policy ST1 outlines the strategic development principles. The policy refers to good access to
services and facilities for everyone, encouraging development which minimises carbon

Page 14

emissions, directing development away from greenfield site, minimising the need to travel
and prioritising development in the main towns where there is previously developed land
and infrastructure capacity.
The site is located within open countryside, with limited access to key services and facilities.
The submitted Planning Statement for this application states that the site is located
between Thornhill and Beckermet which provide the following facilities: primary school 0.78
miles from site, public house 0.68 miles away, nursery provision 0.58 miles away, village hall
1.02 miles away, church 1.1 miles away and retail located within Egremont 1.87 miles away.
There are no facilities located within the immediate vicinity of the application site or within
the Hamlet of Oaklands.
The site is positioned off the A595 without a footway. Whilst there are a number of services
in the village of Beckermet, there are no suitable safe walking routes between the village
and the application site which would discourage pedestrian movements. The site also lies
approximately 0.6 miles from the settlement of Thornhill, which provides a limited number
of services, however there is not a continuous pavement from the site to link the
development to this settlement. The nearest pavement link is located approximately 40m
away on the opposite site of the A595, therefore there is not a safe direct walking link to
nearby settlements. This footpath link is poorly lit and therefore would only reasonably be
used during the day. On this basis, it is considered that the residents of the proposed
development would be unlikely to walk or cycle to Thornhill and would instead be likely to
drive to larger settlements, such as Egremont to access everyday facilities and services. It is
therefore considered that the proposed development would encourage the use of
unsustainable transport methods and it would therefore be unlikely that the development
would contribute to supporting the existing rural services within Beckermet and Thornhill.
This would be contrary to paragraph 78 of the NPPF.
On this basis the site is not considered to be located within a sustainable location for the
purposes of Policy ST1.
Paragraph 79 of the NPPF advises against the development of isolate homes in the
countryside. The word isolated is not defined within the Framework but according to the
Court of Appeal ‘the word “isolated” in the phrase “isolated home in the countryside”, simply
connotes a dwelling that is physically separate or remote from a settlement. Whether a
proposed new dwelling is, or is not, “isolated” in this sense will be a matter of fact and
planning judgement for the decision-maker in the particular circumstances of the case in
hand’. With regard to proximity to other housing, the site is not physically isolated as there
are other dwellings in the vicinity. However, due to the lack of facilities within the
immediate locality, the spread of services and facilities around the nearest settlements, and
the limited opportunities for travel other than by motor vehicle, the proposed dwellings
would be considered isolated from services and facilities and would therefore not comply
with the provisions of the NPPF.
Housing Need
Policy SS3 of the Local Plan requires housing development to demonstrate how proposals
will deliver an appropriate mix of housing as set out in the SHMA.

Page 15

Oakland falls within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) of Copeland Strategic
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).
The SMHA suggest a particular focus on the delivery of three bedroom houses,
semidetached and detached houses with four or more bedrooms and bungalows and is
identified as having a high need for new affordable housing.
The illustrative site layout plan and supporting documentation outlines that the proposed
dwellings are likely to comprise of market homes. No indication of how the development
will meet the needs of the Housing Market Area is provided.
Landscape and Visual Impacts
Policy ENV5 states that the Borough’s landscapes will be protected and enhanced by:
protecting all landscapes from inappropriate change by ensuring that the development does
not threaten or detract from the distinctive characteristics of that particular area; that
where the benefits of the development outweigh the potential harm, ensuring that the
impact of the development on the landscape is minimised through adequate mitigation,
preferably on-site; and, supporting proposals which enhance the value of the Borough’s
landscapes.
Policy DM10 seeks that development responds positively to the character of the site and the
immediate and wider setting and enhances local distinctiveness including: an appropriate
size and arrangement of development plots; the appropriate provision, orientation,
proportion, scale and massing of buildings; and, careful attention to the design of spaces
between buildings.
The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) identifies the site as being
within Sub Type 5b: Lowland - Low Farmland. The Key Characteristics of the land comprise:
undulating and rolling topography, intensely farmed agricultural pasture dominates, patchy
areas of woodland provide contrast to the pasture, woodland is uncommon west towards
the coast, fields are large and rectangular, and hedges, hedgerow trees and fences bound
fields and criss cross up and over the rolling landscape.
The Guidelines for development include: when new development takes place consider
opportunities to enhance and strengthen green infrastructure to provide a link between
urban areas and the wider countryside, reinforcing woodland belts, enhancing water and
soil quality and the provision of green corridors from and between settlements could all
help reinforce landscape and biodiversity features, and ensure new development respects
the historic form and scale of villages creating new focal spaces and using materials that are
sympathetic to local vernacular styles. Further ribbon development or fragmented
development should be supported where it is compatible with the wider landscape
character.
The application site comprises an area of 0.34 hectares, which is currently occupied by the
detached dwelling Weston and the existing builders yard and office forming the
administrative base of Atkinsons Builders. The site is accessed directly from and is visible
from the A595, but is well screened by a number of existing trees, the majority of which are
protected by TPO.

Page 16

The site directly adjoins the existing properties within the Hamlet of Oaklands. The
proposed development would comprise an extension to the existing development form
which would reflect the existing character of the area and would extend the linear form of
the Hamlet. The development would therefore be viewed as part of the existing building
group which would lessen its impact within the locality. As the proposal would develop an
area of land that lies within a row of existing buildings the development would not result in
major intrusion into the open countryside. It is also well screened by the existing trees on
the site. On this basis the development is not considered to have significant harm on the
overall landscape.
Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for
subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application
demonstrates that the site could be developed in a form that respects the form, density and
character of the existing developments within the locality. The proposal is therefore
considered to comply with policies ST1 and ENV5 of the Copeland Local Plan and provision
of the NPPF.
Design and Impact on Residential Amenity
Within the Copeland Local Plan, Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and
section 12 of the NPPF seek to secure high standards of design for new residential
properties. These policies seek to create and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity,
and set out detailed requirements with regard to standard of residential amenity, including
the provision of parking spaces, separation distances and open space.
The application site lies adjacent to residential properties to the north west, with the
existing dwelling know as Weston located within the middle of the application site. Although
all matters are reserved for future approval the application is accompanied by an indicative
layout plan which demonstrates that four dwellings could be accommodated on the site
which reasonably allow for adequate separation distances to be achieved between facing
elevations of the proposed and existing dwellings as required by Policy DM12 of the Local
Plan. The indicative layout also shows that the proposed dwellings will be set back within
the proposed plots, away from the adjacent A595, to reflect the existing built form of
Oaklands. This will help to mitigate against any impact of the development on neighbouring
properties.
Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for
subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application
demonstrates that a development layout is deliverable with interface separation distances
that would not result in harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring residential
dwellings through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing and overlooking. The
requirements of Policy DM12 of the Local Plan are considered achievable.
Access, Parking and Highway Safety
Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the
impact of major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of

Page 17

the Copeland Local Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet
adopted car parking standards, which reflect the needs of the Borough in its rural context.
The application has been submitted in outline form only, with all matters relating to access
reserved for subsequent approvals. The application indicates that access will be achieved via
the existing access from the A595 which currently serves the existing dwelling and
employment use.
As the proposed access to the development is from the A595 both Highways England and
Cumbria Highways have been consulted on this application. Highways England have
requested a number of conditions relating to the submission of a Construction plan Working
Method Statement, and restriction of drainage, should the application be approved. As the
A595 is maintained by Highways England, Cumbria Highways comments are advisory only.
Cumbria Highways have not objected to the development but have provided guidance on
parking, turning, and inter-visibility. They have also offered no objections to the use of the
existing access as it appears to be of a good width to allow for two vehicles to pass one
another.
Overall, it is considered that the submitted details of the potential access comply with
Policies T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan and provisions of the NPPF.
Drainage and Flood Risk
Policy ST1B(ii) and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development on sites that are
at least risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, ensure that the
risk is minimised or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and DM24 of the
Copeland Local Plan reinforces the focus of protecting development against flood risk.
Although the application site is located within Flood Zone 1, the Council’s Flood and Coastal
Defence Engineer, Lead Local Flood Authority and United Utilities have been consulted upon
this application.
As the application is in outline form only, the agent for this application has indicated that
the site will be drained to the main sewer. Whilst no objections have been received to the
development from Statutory Consultees, it is stated that in accordance with the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the
site should be drained on a separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer
and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. This detail could be secured
through an appropriately worded planning condition should the application be approved.
This detail will secure proper drainage within the site and will manage the risk of flooding
and pollution, ensuring that the development complies with Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of
the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 and the provisions of the NPPF.
Trees
Policies ST1, ENV3, and DM25 seeks to ensure that new development will protect and
enhance biodiversity and geodiversity.

Page 18

The application is located within a site which includes a number of well-established trees,
the majority of which are protected by Tree Preservation Orders. As this is an outline
application a tree survey has not been submitted. The agent for the application has however
stated that the retained trees are as shown on the indicative plans for the application and
the only ones that require removal are within the garden of the existing dwelling.
Furthermore, as the proposal is in outline form the applicant does not have any firm designs
but all dwellings have been indicated to be located outside of the mature tree canopies.
The Council’s Arboricultual Consultant has been consulted on this application. No objections
have been submitted however it is stated that if the application is to be approved a
condition required detailed arboricultural information must be secured.
Subject to the imposition of appropriate planning conditions as set out above the proposal is
considered to achieve the requirement of Policies ST1, ENV3 and DM25 of the Copeland
Local Plan.
Loss of Employment Premises
The development would result in the loss of 1,690sqm ‘B’use employment floor space, and
the resultant loss of 8 jobs. This has potential for negative impacts on the local economy.
The applicant has not commented on the future of the current commercial use or provided
evidence to justify the loss of a rural employment site. Whilst the site is not allocated for
employment (primarily due to its size), paragraph 80 of the NPPF states that “significant
weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking
into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.” It is not
clear whether wider opportunities for alternative commercial uses on the site have been
sought.
The Planning Statement submitted with the application states that a residential use would
be a better neighbour to adjacent residential properties. This issue was fully considered and
deemed to be acceptable, when the application for the commercial use was approved in
2004. No issues have been raised by the occupiers of the adjoining properties since the
commercial use of the site commenced and so limited weight is attached to this issue.
Planning Balance
The application site is located ‘outside settlement boundaries’ as defined in Policy ST2 of the
Copeland Local Plan.
For the reasons outlined, in assessing the proposed development, Paragraph 11 of the NPPF
is engaged with the policies of the Development Plan which are most important for
determining the application are to be considered out of date and it required that planning
permission be granted unless:
-

the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Page 19

The proposed development is in clear conflict with the provisions of Policy ST2 of the Local
Plan with regard to the location of the development ‘outside the settlement boundaries’;
however, given the importance of this policy to the determination of the application and its
level of conformity with the NPPF, only limited weight can be given to this conflict in
decision taking.
As the ECLP is at an early stage of preparation and there are outstanding objections to the
relevant policies applicable to this development, this can be given little weight at present.
Although the development would be considered to provide a minor increase in the housing
supply within the Borough, and would not be considered to have any significant landscape
or highway impacts, by virtue of its location the application site is considered to be isolated
from services and any sustainable transport links. The development is therefore considered
to be located within an unstainable location in relation to services and its reliance on
unstainable transport methods, and therefore would not comply with paragraph 11 of the
NPPF. A proven requirement for the proposed development has not been demonstrated.
Conclusion
On balance, whilst there are some limited benefits of the proposal these are not considered
to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the identified environmental harm of a
residential development located where there would be a need to travel by private car. The
proposed development would not be in a suitable location for a residential development
when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. On this basis the proposal
is considered to be an unacceptable form of unsustainable development.

Recommendation:Refuse

Reason for Refusal
The Site is located in the hamlet of Oaklands in an area of open countryside. The proposal
comprises a small scale residential development on an existing employment site and no
need for the development or justification for the loss of the employment use has been
demonstrated. Community facilities in the general wider vicinity of the Site are limited.
Access to services from the Site is also limited being beyond distances which residents could
reasonably be expected to walk or cycle. There are no footways directly linking the
application Site to the available services. Given the disparate spread of the services and
facilities and lack of sustainable transport links, travel by more sustainable methods would
be unlikely to offer a feasible alternative to the private car. The minor benefits that could
result from a small housing development in this location would not be sufficient to outweigh
this harm, especially as the housing is without justification. As such it would not represent
sustainable development as required in the NPPF.

Page 20

The proposal is therefore contrary to policies ST1, ST2 and SS3 of the Copeland Local Plan
2013-2028 and Paragraphs 8, 9, 79, and Paragraph 80 and Part 9 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Statement
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in accordance with
Copeland Local Plan policies and the National Planning Policy Framework in determining this
application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and raising those with the
applicant/ agent. However, in this case it has not been possible to arrive at a satisfactory
resolution for the reasons set out in the reason for refusal.

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4b

To: PLANNING PANEL

Development Control Section

Date of Meeting: 03/03/2021

Application Number:

4/20/2468/0O1

Application Type:

Outline : CBC

Applicant:

Mr Nigel Kay

Application Address:

LAND TO NORTH EAST OF SEABREEZE LODGE,
NETHERTOWN, EGREMONT

Proposal

OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR RESIDENTIAL
DEVELOPMENT FOR 2 DWELLINGS INCLUDING
APPROVAL OF ACCESS

Parish:

Lowside Quarter

Recommendation Summary:

Approve in Outline (commence within 3 years)

Page 23

Crown Copyright. Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005).

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel
This application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the Parish
Council have lodged an objection which is contrary to Officer recommendation.

Site and Location
This application site relates to an area of land on the north east edge of Nethertown,
adjacent to the existing caravan park Lakeland View. The site covers an area of 0.26 hectares
and is currently used as domestic curtilage ancillary to the detached property known as
Seabreeze Lodge which is located to the east. The land is bounded to the west by existing
residential properties and to the east and south by open countryside. To the north of the
site is an area of the domestic curtilage which was granted outline planning permission (ref:
4/18/2465/0O1) in March 2019 for three dwellings include the access position.

Page 24

Proposal
This outline application seeks to establish the principle of developing the site for residential
purposes for two dwellings. Although all matters relating to layout, scale, appearance, and
landscaping are reserved for future consideration, the application does include full details of
the proposed access.
The submitted location plan shows how the site will be accessed via a shared surface road
which will extend from the access junction with the public highway previously approved
under outline planning approval 4/18/2465/0O1. An indicative layout has also been
submitted to show how two dwellings could be accommodated within this site and within
the context for the adjacent site totalling five dwellings in this location. The supporting
Planning Statement indicates that the proposed dwellings will be single storey with dormer
style rooms in the roofspace, to align with the principles established under the previous
approval at the adjacent site.
This application is accompanied by the following:
-

Location Plan;
An Existing Site Plan;
An Indicative Site Plan & Site Section C-C;
An Indicative Landscape Structure Plan;
Design and Access Statement.

Relevant Planning Application History
4/18/2465/0O1 – Outline for 3 dwellings including access position – Approved on adjacent
site.
Consultation Responses
Lowside Quarter Parish Council
Lowside Quarter Parish Council object to the development proposed in the above planning
application on grounds of the infrastructure of the village not being capable of sustaining
additional properties. In particular the rainwater run-off from this development will only
add to the flooding which occurs outside the property Ocean Way every time there is
sufficient rainfall. The additional rainwater run-off from this considerable tarmac/paved
area for these properties will, due to the raised location relative to the road, only add to an
already existing problem with consistent flooding even with gullies installed on this
development.
Cumbria County Council – Cumbria Highways & Lead Local Flood Authority
The two proposed dwelling in addition to the three previously approved under
4/18/2465/0O1 will mean that the development is still under the threshold that would
require it to be built to an adoptable standard. Cumbria County Council have advised that

Page 25

their response to 4/18/2465/0O1 should be applied to this application with the addition of
the conditions relating to construction of the approved access.
Previous comments from Cumbria County Council:
Cumbria Highways
No objections subject to the inclusion of conditions relating to visibility splays, the
access road, existing boundaries, surface water and parking/turning.
Local Lead Flood Authority
The LLFA do not have any records of flooding on this site and the Environment
Agency (EA) surface water maps do not indicate that the site is in an area of risk.
United Utilities
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system with
foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable
way. United Utilities have therefore requested conditions relating to surface and foul water
drainage.
Copeland Borough Council – Strategic Planning Policy
Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 Core Strategy and Development Management Policies
Document
The application site falls outside any settlement boundary identified within the Core
Strategy’s Settlement Hierarchy, Figure 3.2. The site is therefore classed as being in an open
countryside location.
The main policy relating to the application is Policy ST2 (Spatial Development Strategy).
Criteria set out in Figure 3.2 of Policy ST2 sets out the type and scale of
development that may be appropriate outside of settlement boundaries:

“Development providing homes to meet the defined needs of the
population, with need for rural/non settlement location to be proven in
each case (see 3.5-16-19)”
Figure 3.3 demonstrates Housing Requirements by Settlement. The proposal
represents development outside of the settlement boundary without defined
need (the proposal appears to be for market housing and not limited to local
needs) and is therefore contrary to Policy ST2 and Figures 3.2 and 3.3.
The parts of the policy that refer to the settlement boundaries are however out of date and
can therefore be given limited weight. This is because the development of the emerging
Local Plan has highlighted that extensions to the boundaries will be required to meet
identified housing needs.

Page 26

Draft Local Plan 2017-2035
Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft ended in December 2020.
The Local Plan will, once adopted, replace the Core Strategy.
The emerging Local Plan identifies Nethertown as an Other Rural Village and identifies a
settlement boundary around the village. The site is outside but directly adjoins the proposed
settlement boundary and would therefore continue to be classed as being in an open
countryside location.
The village’s classification as an Other Rural Village is based on an assessment of services
within the village and public transport connections to larger settlements. It is anticipated
that the 9 “Other Rural Villages” listed in the Plan would provide 108 dwellings in total
between them over the emerging plan period.
The proposed development would provide a small number of market homes which would
help meet rural housing needs, however it is not clear how these would reflect local needs
as no reference has been made to the Strategic Housing Market Assessment or Housing
Needs Study in the application. The application does not state that the homes will be
provided for local occupancy.
In November 2020, the Council produced a Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement which
demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites against the emerging housing
requirement and a 55 year supply against the Government’s standard methodology figure.
The proposal, being outside the draft settlement boundary, is contrary to draft Policy DS3PO
as the site is not connected to the village by a safe pedestrian route and the Council can
demonstrate a 5 year supply. However as the Plan is at an early stage and there are
outstanding objections to the relevant policies it can be given little weight at present.
NPPF
The NPPF requires planning decisions to be made in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is one such consideration.
The NPPF includes a presumption in favour of sustainable development with paragraph 11
stating that:
“For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development
plan without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission
unless:
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or

Page 27

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”
Criteria d is relevant as the parts of Policy ST2 relating to settlement boundaries are out of
date and therefore the tilted balance is engaged. Given this, consideration should be given
to whether criteria di or dii above are triggered.
Paragraph 78 of the NPPF states that “to promote sustainable development in rural areas,
housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality and viability of rural
communities.”
Paragraph 79 continues by stating that “Planning Policies and decisions should avoid the
development of isolated homes in the countryside” unless certain circumstances apply.
Access to services
One of the key considerations is therefore whether the development would represent an
isolated form of development, and therefore be contrary to the NPPF. The term “isolated”
has been considered in numerous appeals.
In June 2019, an appeal was dismissed for planning application 4/18/2477/0O1 in the
settlement of Lamplugh on the grounds that: “The delivery of three additional dwellings
within the Borough would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the isolated nature
of the proposed site with respect to services and facilities and its reliance on private car.”
A further appeal in Lamplugh, application 4/19/2262/PIP was also dismissed in September
2020, again, on the basis of reduced accessibility to key services and facilities. This also
refers to the lack of footpaths and adequate street lighting, further restricting accessibility.
The application site is currently identified as open countryside. The Local Plan 2017-2035
recognises that Nethertown has a limited number of services including a rail connection to
St Bees and Whitehaven, a local employer and café/restaurant, and in light of this the village
is proposed to be an “Other Rural Village” to which a limited amount of development will be
directed over the emerging Plan period. As stated above, the site is however outside the
draft settlement boundary.
The application site is located within 0.5 miles of the station which links the village to St
Bees and Whitehaven (along Nethertown Rd). Trains are however relatively infrequent (with
not all services passing through the station stopping here) and there is no pavement
between the site and the station.
The site is adjacent to a recently approved development as stated in the Design and Access
Statement. However at the time of the approval the Council was unable to demonstrate a 5
year supply of deliverable housing sites.
Summary
The application is contrary to Core Strategy Policy ST2 and emerging Local Plan Policy
DS3PO, although the weight which can be given to parts of ST2 and the emerging Policy is
limited as set out above.

Page 28

An assessment should be made as to whether the development constitutes isolated
development and if so, conflicts with NPPF paragraph 79.
When carrying out the tilted balance under paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the adverse impacts
caused by such conflicts should be considered and if they do not significantly or
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal then the application should be
approved.
If the application is approved, any reserved matters application should demonstrate a
development of high quality design, enhancing local distinctiveness that respects the
character of the settlement of Nethertown. The applicant should also demonstrate at that
stage that they have considered housing needs in the SHMA and housing needs study and
that the chosen house types and tenures are the most appropriate for the area.
Natural England
No comments to make on this application.
Resilience Unit
No objections.
Public Representation
This application was advertised by way of site notice, press notice and neighbour
notification letters issued to twenty three residential properties. No comments have been
received in relation to this statutory notification procedure.

Planning Policy
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan
Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)
Core Strategy
Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles
Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy
Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer
Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth
Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability
Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport
Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management

Page 29

Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes
Development Management Policies (DMP)
Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place
Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards
Policy DM12 – Standards of New Residential Developments
Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments
Policy DM24 – Development Proposal and Flood Risk
Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species
Policy DM26 – Landscaping
Copeland Local Plan 2001-2016 (LP):
Saved Policy TSP8 - Parking Requirements
Proposals Map including settlement boundaries.
Other Material Planning Considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
National Design Guide (NDG).
Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDG)
Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2019 (SHMA)
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR).
Copeland Borough Council Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023 (CBCHS)
The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLGC)
Emerging Copeland Local Plan (ECLP):
The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 was recently the subject to a Preferred
Options Consultation which ended on 30th November 2020. The Preferred Options
Consultation builds upon the completed Issues and Options Consultation which finished in
January 2020. Given the stage of preparation, the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035
has only limited weight in decision making, but provides an indication of the direction of
travel of the emerging planning policies, which themselves have been developed in
accordance with the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 30

Assessment
The primary issues relevant to the determination of this application are:
-

The principle of the development;
Access to services & facilities;
Housing need;
Settlement character, landscape impact and visual impact
Design and impact on residential amenity;
Flood risk and the achievement of satisfactory drainage;
Access, parking and highway safety.

Principle of Development
The principle of new housing is supported in the Copeland Local Plan through strategic
policies ST1 and ST2 along with policies SS1, SS2 and SS3. These policies seek to promote
sustainable development to meet the needs and aspirations of the Boroughs housing
market, as well as having consideration for the requirements of smaller settlements within
the Borough, which respect their scale and function.
Nethertown is a small village located outside of any settlement boundary identified within
Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan. The site lies to the north of the village and is directly
adjoining the existing built form of the area. As the application site is located outside of any
settlement boundary the proposal is in conflict with Policy ST2. Policy ST2 of the Copeland
Local Plan states that outside of the defined settlement boundaries, development is
restricted to that which has a proven requirement for such a location, including housing that
meets proven specific and local needs including provision for agricultural workers,
replacement dwellings, replacement of residential caravans, affordable housing and the
conversion of rural buildings to residential use.
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires the application of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development to the provision of housing where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the
application are out-of-date. Out of date includes where the Local Planning Authority cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as
set out in paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of
housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the
previous three years.
In November 2020, Copeland Borough Council produced a Five Year Housing Land Supply
Statement which demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites against the
emerging housing requirement calculated in the updated Strategic Housing Market
Assessment (SHMA) and a 55 year supply against the Government’s standard methodology
figure. Copeland Borough Council has also met the most recent Housing Delivery Test.

Page 31

Notwithstanding the above, the policies in the Local Plan must still be considered out of
date and only some weight can be given their content as far as they are consistent with the
provisions of the NPPF.
Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft (ECLP) ended in
December 2020. The ECLP will, once adopted, replace the policies of the adopted Local Plan.
The ECLP has been drafted based upon an evidence base. The SHMA calculates a housing
need in Copeland over the plan period 2017-2035 of 140 dwellings per annum. The ECLP
confirms that to meet the housing need identified in the SHMA, development will be
required beyond the existing development boundaries identified in Policy ST2 of the CS.
The ECLP seeks to identify Nethertown as an ‘Other Rural Village’, given the level of services
available within the area. The ECLP states that limited development within these areas
would enable future housing need to be met and support existing local services. The ECLP
continues to identify the Application Site as outside but directly adjoining the current
proposed development boundary for Nethertown. Whilst the proposed development is in
conflict with the emerging policies and provisions of the ECLP, as the document is at an early
stage of preparation and there are outstanding objections to the relevant policies applicable
to this development, the identified conflict can be given little weight at present.
The site lies on the northern edge of the built up area of Nethertown, and is considered to
be within walking distance of the key local services which includes a café restaurant, a
nursery, open space, a train station, a post box, and a phone box. The site lies adjacent to a
site which was granted outline planning permission in 2019 when the Council were unable
to provide a five year land supply.
In the context of the provisions of Paragraph 11, the Council’s defined settlement
boundaries are considered to be out of date. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that
planning permission should be granted unless:
i.
ii.

The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

In applying the provisions of paragraph 11:
-

-

The site would assist in increasing housing supply to meet the identified need for
housing within the Borough;
The proposed development comprising the erection of two dwelling is appropriate in
size to the existing village of Nethertown and would create a small extension to the
previous outline approval of three dwellings at the adjacent site;
The site adjoins the existing built form on the northern edge of Nethertown;
The Site is located in close proximity to the services located within Nethertown. The
proposed development will support existing services and thus the aspiration of
retaining these services;

Page 32

-

Some sustainable travel options exist within the vicinity, including Nethertown Train
Station, as per the provisions of Policy DM22 of the Local Plan.

Access to Services and Facilities/isolate
Policy ST1 outlines the strategic development principles. The policy refers to good access to
services and facilities for everyone, encouraging development which minimises carbon
emissions, directing development away from greenfield site, minimising the need to travel
and prioritising development in the main towns where there is previously developed land
and infrastructure capacity.
The emerging Local Plan identifies Nethertown as an “Other Rural Village” and identifies a
settlement boundary around the village. The site is outside but directly adjoins the proposed
settlement boundary. The village’s classification as an Other Rural Village is based on an
assessment of services within the village and public transport connections to larger
settlements.
The site lies on the northern edge of the built up area of Nethertown, and is considered to
be within walking distance of the existing local services which includes a café restaurant, a
nursery, open space, a train station, a post box, and a phone box. The site is therefore
considered to be located within a sustainable location for the purposes of Policy ST1.
Paragraph 79 of the NPPF advises that isolate homes in the countryside should be avoided.
The word isolated is not defined within the Framework but according to the Court of Appeal
‘the word “isolated” in the phrase “isolated home in the countryside”, simply connotes a
dwelling that is physically separate or remote from a settlement. Whether a proposed new
dwelling is, or is not, “isolated” in this sense will be a matter of fact and planning judgement
for the decision-maker in the particular circumstances of the case in hand’. With regard to
proximity to other housing, the site is not isolated as there are other dwellings in the
vicinity. Due to the number of existing services within walking distance of the site, as
identified within the Copeland Village Services Survey 2019, and the location of the train
station which provides links to the larger settlements the site is not considered to be
isolated in terms of services and facilities. Although there may some reliance on cars from
the site the nearby train station provides sustainable transport links, therefore the proposed
additional housing will help to support the retention of key services within the area in line
with paragraphs 83 and 84 of the NPPF which supports a prosperous and rural economy
Housing Need
Policy SS3 of the Local Plan requires housing development to demonstrate how proposals
will deliver an appropriate mix of housing as set out in the SHMA.
Nethertown falls within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) of Copeland Strategic
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).
The SMHA suggest a particular focus on the delivery of three bedroom houses,
semidetached and detached houses with four or more bedrooms and bungalows and is
identified as having a high need for new affordable housing.

Page 33

The illustrative site layout plan and supporting documentation outlines that the proposed
dwellings are likely to comprise of market homes.
The proposed development has the potential to assist in providing a greater balance of
market housing stock within the Borough and will create additional bungalows, therefore
meeting an identified housing need in accordance with the provisions of Policy SS3 of CS. No
affordable housing is proposed in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 63 of the
NPPF which sets out that the provision for affordable housing should not be sought for
residential developments that are less than 10 units.
Settlement Character, Landscape Impact and Visual Impact
Policy ENV5 states that the Borough’s landscapes will be protected and enhanced by:
protecting all landscapes from inappropriate change by ensuring that the development does
not threaten or detract from the distinctive characteristics of that particular area; that
where the benefits of the development outweigh the potential harm, ensuring that the
impact of the development on the landscape is minimised through adequate mitigation,
preferably on-site; and, supporting proposals which enhance the value of the Borough’s
landscapes.
Policy DM10 seeks that development responds positively to the character of the site and the
immediate and wider setting and enhances local distinctiveness including: an appropriate
size and arrangement of development plots; the appropriate provision, orientation,
proportion, scale and massing of buildings; and, careful attention to the design of spaces
between buildings.
The application site comprises of undeveloped land that lies on the edge of the built up area
of Nethertown, adjacent to a number of existing dwellings. The land contributes positively
to the character of Nethertown with particular regard to the approach to the settlement
from the north east. The site is located at an elevated position along the main road into the
village.
The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) identifies the site as being
within Sub Type 4 ‘Coastal Sandstone’. The Key Characteristics of the land comprise: coastal
sandstone cliffs, sandstone rolling hills and plateaus, large open fields, prominent hedge
banks bound pastoral fields, small woodland blocks along valley sides, and exposed coastal
edge moving to intimate and enclosed farmland inland.
The Guidelines for development include: strengthen definition between town and country
by using extensive buffer planting to screen the built up areas and reduce the impact of
industry, improve visual containment of caravan parks close to the coast with landscape
works and discourage further large scale developments, such as wind energy, in prominent
coastal locations, conserve and enhance the traditional farm buildings and features within
their own setting, and reduce the impact of any new buildings by careful siting and design.
The site comprises an area of land on the north east edge of Nethertown, directly adjoining
the existing built form and residential dwellings, and lies adjacent to the existing caravan
park “Lakeland View”. The land is currently used as domestic curtilage ancillary to the

Page 34

detached property known as Seabreeze Lodge and lies directly adjacent to a site which was
granted outline planning permission for three detached dwellings. This area of Nethertown
is characterised by detached dwellings. The proposed development would comprise an
extension to the previously approved outline scheme on the adjoining land, and would
comprise a small extension to the existing developed form of the settlement to the north
east. This would reflect the existing character of the area and would not extend beyond the
large caravan park on the opposite side of the village. The development would therefore be
viewed against the backdrop of these existing properties and would effectively round off
this part of the village.
Given the elevated nature of the site the applicant has stated that as per the previous
outline permission on the adjacent site, the proposed dwellings will be limited to single
storey with use of the roof space. This detail can be secured through an appropriately
worded planning condition as per the previous outline application. On this basis, the
development is therefore not considered to result in a major intrusion into the open
countryside, and is not considered to have significantly harmful impact on the overall
landscape.
Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for
subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application
demonstrates that the site could be developed in a manner that respects the form, density
and character of the existing developments within the immediate locality. Additional
planting, which is shown on the submitted indicative landscaping plan and would be secured
as part of subsequent reserved matters application, would also help to mitigate the visual
impacts of the development. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with policies
ST1 and ENV5 of the Copeland Local Plan and provision of the NPPF.
Design and Impact on Residential Amenity
Within the Copeland Local Plan, Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and
section 12 of the NPPF seek to secure high standards of design for new residential
properties. These policies seek to create and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity,
and set out detailed requirements with regard to standard of residential amenity, including
the provision of parking spaces, separation distances and open space.
The application site lies adjacent to residential properties to the west, open countryside to
the east and south, and the site which has previously been granted outline planning
permission. The application includes indicative details of the proposed layout only with
details of the layout, scale and appearance of the dwellings reserved for subsequent
approval at the Reserved Matters stage. As submitted the proposed plot layout does
reasonably allow for adequate separation distances to be achieved between facing
elevations of the proposed and existing dwellings as required by Policy DM12 of the Local
Plan. The indicative layout also shows that the proposed dwellings will be an extension to
the layout of the previous outline permission, with the proposed dwellings formed around a
single access road into the site. An indicative landscape scheme has been submitted as part
of this current application, however full details of the planting and boundary treatment
would be submitted at the reserved matters planning stage.

Page 35

Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for
subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application
demonstrates that a development layout is deliverable with interface separation distances
that would not result in harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring residential
dwellings through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing and overlooking. The
requirements of Policy DM12 of the Local Plan are considered achievable.
Flood Risk and the Achievement of Satisfactory Drainage
Policy ST1B(ii) and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development on sites that are
at least risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, ensure that the
risk is minimised or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and DM24 of the
Copeland Local Plan reinforces the focus of protecting development against flood risk.
The application site is located within Flood Zone 1, however the Council’s Flood and Coastal
Defence Engineer, Lead Local Flood Authority and United Utilities have been consulted upon
this application.
As the application is in outline form only, the agent for this application had indicated that
foul water from the site will be drained to the main sewer and surface water will be dealt
with by soakaways. The Parish Council have objected to this development due to
inadequate infrastructure in the village and the increased risk of flooding. No objections
have been received to this application from any statutory consultees, however it has been
indicated that the site should be drained on a separate systems. In line with these
comments relevant conditions are proposed to ensure an adequate drainage system can be
secured to serve the site and to ensure a surface water drainage scheme is achievable based
on the hierarchy of drainage options set out in the NPPF. These details should be secured
prior to commencement of works on the site.
The imposition of these conditions will secure proper drainage within the site and will
manage the risk of flooring and pollution, ensuring that the development complies with
Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 and the provisions of
the NPPF.
Access, Parking and Highway Safety
Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the
impact of major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of
the Copeland Local Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet
adopted car parking standards, which reflect the needs of the Borough in its rural context.
The application has been submitted in outline form only, however full details of the
proposed access have been included within the application. The submitted location plan for
this application shows how the site will be accessed via a shared surface road which will
extend from the access junction with the public highway approved under outline planning
approval 4/18/2465/0O1.
Cumbria Highways have confirmed that the two proposed dwelling in addition to the three
previously approved under 4/18/2465/0O1 will mean that the development is still under the

Page 36

threshold that would require it to be built to an adoptable standard. As per their response
to the previous outline application Cumbria Highways have no objections to the proposed
development subject to the inclusions of conditions relating to visibility splays, the access
road, existing boundaries, surface water, parking/turning, and the construction of the
approved access. It is therefore considered that the inclusion of the requested conditions
and the due to the small scale nature of the development, the proposal will not have a
detrimental impact on highway safety in accordance with Policies T1 and DM22 of the
Copeland Local Plan and provisions of the NPPF.
Planning Balance
The application site is located ‘outside settlement boundaries’ as defined in Policy ST2 of the
Copeland Local Plan.
For the reasons outlined, in assessing the proposed development, Paragraph 11 of the NPPF
is engaged with the policies of the Development Plan which are most important for
determining the application are to be considered out of date and it required that planning
permission be granted unless:
-

the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

The proposed development is in clear conflict with the provisions of Policy ST2 of the Local
Plan with regard to the location outside of any settlement boundary; however, given the
importance of this policy to the determination of the application and its level of conformity
with the NPPF, only limited weight can be given to this conflict in decision taking.
As the ECLP is at an early stage of preparation and there are outstanding objections to the
relevant policies applicable to this development, this can be given little weight at present.
The development will assist in increasing housing supply within the Borough, is of an
appropriate scale for the village, and will support the retention of existing services locally.
Although the site will have some reliance on cars, the development would benefits from
some sustainable travel options linking the site with larger settlements in accordance with
the spatial objectives of the Local Plan. Whilst the development, by virtue of its location,
would have some impacts on the existing character of the northern edge of the village, the
small scale proposal has been designed to respect the character and built form of this area
of the settlement. The development is considered to represent a small extension to the
village, and would be viewed against and round off the existing built form of Nethertown,
limiting its impacts. The site has been designed to extend the previous outline planning
approval of three dwellings at the adjacent site which was approved when the Council could
not demonstrate a five year land supply. The addition of two dwelling set further back from
the road, is not considered to have a significantly detrimental harm on the overall area.

Page 37

Conclusion
On balance, whist conflicts are identified it is considered that these are collectively not
sufficiently harmful to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the identified benefits of the
development, which would include the provision of housing in a sustainable location, and
the supporting local services when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a
whole.

Recommendation:Approve in Outline subject to the following conditions.

Conditions
Standard Conditions
1. The layout, scale, appearance, access and landscaping must be approved by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended
by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.

Detailed plans and drawings with respect to the matters reserved for subsequent
approval must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within three years of the
date of this permission and the development hereby permitted must be commenced
not later than the later of the following dates:a)

The expiration of THREE years from the date of this permission

Or
b)

The expiration of TWO years from the final approval of the reserved matters
or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last
such matter to be approved.

Reason
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to
comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Page 38

3. This permission relates to the following plans and documents as received on the
respective dates and development must be carried out in accordance with them:-

Location Plan, Scale 1:1250, Drawing No 18/07/935, received by the Local
Planning Authority on the 19th November 2020.
Existing Site Plan, Scale 1:500, Drawing No 18/07/935/-02, received by the
Local Planning Authority on the 19th November 2020.
Design and Access Statement (Amended), received by the Local Planning
Authority on the 16th December 2020.

Reason
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Pre Commencement Conditions
4. Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage scheme,
based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice
Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public
sewerage system either directly or indirectly.
The development must be completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the
risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the provision of Policy ENV1 and
Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028.
5. The development must not commence until visibility splays providing clear visibility
of 20.3m into Northern site and 21.7 metres into Southern site measured 2.4metres
down the centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the county
highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and
re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, vehicle or
object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other
plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the visibility splay which

Page 39

obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility splays must be constructed before general
development of the site commences so that construction traffic is safeguarded.
Reason
In the interest of highway safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 and
Policy DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.
6. Any existing highway fence/wall boundary must be reduced to a height not
exceeding 1.05m above the carriageway level of the adjacent highway in accordance
with details submitted to the Local Planning Authority and which have subsequently
been approved before development commences and must not be raised to a height
exceeding 1.05m thereafter.
Reason
In the interest of highway safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 and
Policy DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.
7. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent surface
water discharging onto or off the highway must be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any approved
works must be implemented prior to the development being completed and must be
maintained operational thereafter.
Reason
In the interest of highway safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 and
Policy DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.
8. The access and parking/turning requirements shall be substantially met before any
building work commences on site so that constructional traffic can park and turn
clear of the highway.
Reason
In the interest of highway safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 and
Policy DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028
9. Full details of the surface water drainage system (incorporating SUDs features as far
as practicable) and a maintenance schedule must be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any approved
works must be implemented prior to the development being completed and must be
maintained thereafter in accordance with the schedule.
Reason

Page 40

To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the
risk of flooding and pollution. To ensure the surface water system continues to
function as designed and that flood risk is not increased within the site or elsewhere,
in accordance with the provision of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland
Local Plan 2013 – 2028.

Prior to Occupation
10. Details showing the provision of a vehicle turning space within the site, which allows
vehicles visiting the site to enter and leave the highway in a forward gear, must be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The development must not
be brought into use until any such details have been approved and the turning space
constructed. The turning space must not thereafter be used for any other purpose.
Reason
To ensure that provision is made for vehicle turning within the site and in the interests
of highway safety.

11. The use of the development by construction traffic must not be commenced until
the access has been formed to give a minimum carriageway width of 4.1 metres, and
that part of the access road extending 10 metres into the site from the existing
highway has been constructed in accordance with details approved by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason
In the interest of highway safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 and
Policy DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.
12. The surfacing of the access road shall extend for at least 5.0meters inside the site, as
measured from the highway boundary prior to the occupation of any of the
dwellings and shall be carried out in accordance with details of construction which
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The access
road shall be constructed in accordance with a specification approved by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason
In the interest of highway safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 and
Policy DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.
Other Conditions
13. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.

Page 41

Reason
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the
risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the provision of Policy ENV1 and
Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028.
14. This permission gives outline approval for a maximum of three dwellings only at this
site.
Reason
To ensure an appropriate form of development at this site in accordance with the
provisions of Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.
15. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that
order with or without modification) no external alterations (including replacement
windows and doors) or extensions, conservatories, dormer, or enlargement shall be
carried out to the dwellings / buildings, nor shall any detached building, enclosure,
domestic fuel containers, pool or hardstandings be constructed within the curtilage
other than those expressly authorised by this permission.
Reason
To safeguard the character and appearance of the development in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy ST1, ENV5, DM10 and DM26 of the
Copeland Local Plan.
16. No buildings on any part of the development hereby permitted shall exceed one
storey in height. This does not preclude the use of the roof space as habitable
accommodation.
Reason
To ensure an appropriate form of development at this site in accordance with the
provisions of Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.
Informative:
In view of the fact that this application, if granted, could increase the number of persons in
the area (including trade people) the applicant should liaise with the Resilience Unit office
via emergency.planning@cumbria.gov.uk to allow for further discussion to ensure the

Page 42

applicant and their trades people/contractors are aware of the appropriate information and
actions to take should there be an incident at the Sellafield site.

Statement
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning
policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4c

To: PLANNING PANEL

Development Control Section

Date of Meeting: 03/03/2021

Application Number:

4/20/2491/0O1

Application Type:

Outline : CBC

Applicant:

Sunshine Properties West Coast Limited

Application Address:

LAND TO SOUTH OF SOUTHRIGG, NETHERTOWN
ROAD, ST BEES

Proposal

OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR RESIDENTIAL
DEVELOPMENT

Parish:

St. Bees

Recommendation Summary:

Approve in Outline (commence within 3 years)

Page 45

Crown Copyright. Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005).

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel
This application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the Parish
Council have lodged an objection which is contrary to Officer recommendation, and there
has been significant local interest in this proposal.

Site and Location
The application site relates to agricultural land at Nethertown Road, located to the South of
St Bees. The sloping site measures 0.36 hectares, and adjoins the curtilage of the existing
dwelling known as Southrigg. The site is located adjacent to the existing settlement
boundary for St Bees and is bounded to the north and east by residential properties, to the
south by open countryside and to the west by Nethertown Road. The properties located to
the east of the application site are elevated above the site and the existing properties on
Nethertown Road.

Page 46

Proposal
This outline application seeks to establish the principle of developing the site for residential
purposes for up to three dwellings. All matters relating to layout, scale, appearance, access
and landscaping are reserved for future consideration.
Whilst all matters are reserved for subsequent approval, an indicative layout has been
submitted with this application to show how the site could accommodate three detached
dwellings. The indicative layout also indicates the development would be accessed from
Nethertown Road, with each plot benefiting from parking and turning spaces.
The planning application is accompanied by the following documentation:
-

Site Location Plan;
An Indicative Site Layout Plan;
Planning Statement;
An Access Appraisal.

Relevant Planning Application History
4/98/0656/0 – Outline for one residential unit – Refused
4/01/0841/0 – Outline for one residential unit – Refused
Consultation Responses
St Bees Parish Council
The Parish Council objects to this application. The site is on the very fringe of the village and
is outside of the settlement boundary. Any development would extend the village further
south towards Nethertown. The Parish Council does not support further linear extension of
the village along Nethertown Road and believes any development should take place within
the existing settlement boundary. A previous application for this site was refused some
years ago for this reason.
The Parish Council believes that the site is unsuitable for development. The proposed access
to the new properties would be from Nethertown Road. This is a very narrow road along its
entire length and even at the widest point (between the existing properties and the junction
with Main Street) it is scarcely wide enough for two vehicles to pass. Just beyond Southrigg
the road narrows still further and becomes a single track road to Nethertown. There are no
pavements so it is not a safe route for pedestrians and the additional traffic associated with
further development would worsen the situation. There are also problems with flooding in
this area as the drainage system is unable to cope with the flow of water during heavy rain.
In summary, the view of St Bees Parish Council is that this application should be refused.
Cumbria County Council – Cumbria Highways
This proposed small development of three detached dwellings replicates and extends the
current layout and arrangement of houses on the north side of Nethertown Road. Cumbria

Page 47

Highways note that this is a low speed and narrow rural road with an 85th %ile speed of
22mph with no footway, but no recorded accidents in the last 5 years according to our
database.
The additional traffic likely to be generated by the proposal will not have a material impact
on highway conditions, but the sustainability of the site needs to be considered. Although
the site is on the outskirts of the village and there are no footways on Nethertown Road, the
Highway Authority note that it is only 0.5 miles to the centre of the village, its facilities and
school. The Highway Authority therefore consider that it is not unreasonable for walking
journeys especially since there is a footway on the B5345 and the visibility along
Nethertown Road is good. It is not considered necessary to provide a footway along the
frontage as there is no connectivity available to the west and a footway would urbanise the
location further and the increased width and lack of inconsistency of provision could impact
on highway conditions.
Cumbria Highways note that the outline proposal is for separate private driveways but it
would also be possible to have a single shared driveway. In terms of highway safety, it
would be preferable to keep the number of individual access onto the highway to a
minimum to reduce conflict with turning traffic and would normally prefer to see a single
access. A single access with a single visibility splay reduces the length of wall to be set back,
and it also rationalises refuse collection points and a wider splayed single access would
provide a better informal layby for delivery vans and a passing place. However, since the
speeds here are so low, as long as the individual driveways are compliant they would be
acceptable as well.
The layout and detailed design of the development should address the following points,
with reference to the Cumbria Development Design Guide for the appropriate standards:









a compliant shared or individual private driveway(s);
parking provision and turning arrangements;
servicing arrangements (refuse and van deliveries);
visibility splays;
measures to prevent surface water run-off running onto the road from the
driveway(s);
consideration of permeable materials for all driveways and parking areas;
position of any driveway gates (must open inwards and be set back at least 5m);
construction traffic management plan;

No objections subject to the inclusion of requested conditions.
Cumbria County Council - Lead Local Flood Authority
It is noted that the site is in Flood Zone 1 area and not shown to be at risk at any forms of
flood risk. Whilst the application form states that the surface water strategy will discharge
water to a soakaway, which deals with the water as near to source as possible, there is no
supporting information or evidence to demonstrate that the surface water and flood risk is

Page 48

managed appropriately. However, due to the scale and location of the development, and
overall low flood risk the LLFA is satisfied with the proposal in principle. Further information
including infiltration testing and a full surface water strategy will be required in due course.
No objections subject to the inclusion of requested conditions.
United Utilities
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), United Utilities have confirmed that the site should be
drained on a separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water
draining in the most sustainable way.
Copeland Borough Council – Flood and Coastal Defence Engineer
The Council’s Flood and Coastal Defence Engineer has stated the usual condition requested
by United Utilities to ensure that surface water disposal follows the hierarchy. Furthermore,
if soakaways aren’t feasible surface water would need to be connected into the combined
sewer. This would need to be approved by United Utilities, so it will be necessary that other
options have been discounted first.
Public Representation
This application was advertised by way of site notice, press notice and neighbour
notification letters issued to four residential properties. Ten letters of objection have been
received in relation to this application, which raise the following concerns:
-

-

Nethertown Road cannot support more housing. It is very narrow and residents
already encounter daily problems with traffic.
The road was closed for over a month a couple of years ago to do repairs to the
supporting wall that was collapsing due to the number of larger vehicles that use it.
The access to and from the houses will be via Nethertown Road which is narrow,
there is only just enough room for a single car to pass along the road.
The road is popular and well used by pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders. The
addition of the new Coastal Path has resulted in great increase in pedestrian using
this section of road. The development would be a hazard to these people. There is
currently no place to retreat to let traffic pass by.
There will be a significant increase in traffic from the development, including cars,
delivery vans etc.
An alternative access should be proposed.
All vehicles will have to reverse back onto the road as there is no suitable turning
location for them. This will pose a hazard to users of the road.
During the build large vehicles will use the road causing great disruptions to all users
of Nethertown Road.
The road will be structurally impacted by the sustained use of heavy construction
traffic.
Other road users, i.e. farmers, will likewise be disrupted by extra traffic.
Issues of drainage/sewerage for the new houses.

Page 49

-

Services to the site are already stretched and should not have further strain put on
them.
Previous application was prevented because of inadequate drainage for one new
dwelling.
Nothing has changed since the previous application was refused therefore the
current application should also be refused.
The development is outside the existing settlement boundary identified within the
Copeland Local Plan.
The application would increase the boundary of an already congested village.
It is an area of biodiversity.
There is at least one site in the village that has never been fully developed showing
there is no need for further development within the village.
Additional properties will be built on an attractive unspoilt area.
The development would restrict access to adjacent woodland.
The woodland will be at higher risk of fire.
Nethertown Road is a quaint rural lane, this character would be lost forever if this
development were to go ahead.

Thirteen letters of supports were also received for this application, which make the
following comments:
-

-

A beautiful place to develop with superb views.
Excellent location for three dwellings.
Good opportunity to develop the area.
Support future development of the area.
There is not enough houses to purchase in St Bees village. This will increase the
opportunity for locals to purchase a house in a desirable area.
The proposal will generate industry for local business in a hard time.
The development of three dwelling is in keeping and in proportion to the properties
to which they are adjacent, therefore will blend into the existing surroundings and
will be a natural extension to the village.
The development is not trying to fill the land with as many houses as the space will
allow.
It is on the outskirts of the village on a road that is rarely used.
The site does not overlook anyone and has great views.
The site is an ideal fill in and would give St Bees more executive housing which is
badly needed.
Support new properties and investment in the village.
This site would provide an opportunity to buy a property in this village after several
years of looking.
It is an ideal site for a small development.
There is a lack of upmarket housing with parking in St Bees.
This proposal does not impact adversely on the adjoining houses or the countryside.
The road up to this area is wide and quiet enough to support the small amount of
extra traffic that would be created.

Page 50

-

The development won’t impact traffic and will make lovely homes.

Planning Policy
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan
Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)
Core Strategy
Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles
Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy
Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer
Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth
Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability
Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport
Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management
Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes
Development Management Policies (DMP)
Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place
Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards
Policy DM12 – Standards of New Residential Developments
Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments
Policy DM24 – Development Proposal and Flood Risk
Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species
Policy DM26 – Landscaping
Copeland Local Plan 2001-2016 (LP):
Saved Policy TSP8 - Parking Requirements
Proposals Map including settlement boundaries.
Other Material Planning Considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

Page 51

National Design Guide (NDG).
Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDG)
Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2019 (SHMA)
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR).
Copeland Borough Council Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023 (CBCHS)
The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLGC)
Emerging Copeland Local Plan:
The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been subject to a Preferred
Options Consultation which ended on 30th November 2020. The Preferred Options
Consultation builds upon the completed Issues and Options Consultation which finished in
January 2020. Given the stage of preparation, the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035
has only limited weight in decision making, but provides an indication of the direction of
travel of the emerging planning policies, which themselves have been developed in
accordance with the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Assessment
The primary issues relevant to the determination of this application are:
-

The principle of the development;
Housing need;
Design and impact on residential amenity;
Landscape and Visual Impact;
Flood risk and the achievement of satisfactory drainage;
The impact of the development on highway safety.

Principle of Development
The principle of new housing is supported in the Copeland Local Plan through strategic
policies ST1 and ST2 along with policies SS1, SS2 and SS3. These policies seek to promote
sustainable development to meet the needs and aspirations of the Boroughs housing
market, as well as having consideration for the requirements of smaller settlements within
the Borough, which respect their scale and function.
St Bees is classified as a Local Centre under Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan. Policy ST2
seeks to support appropriately scaled development in defined Local Centres which helps to
sustain services and facilities for local communities. In respect of housing development, the
following is identified as appropriate: within the defined physical limits of development as
appropriate; possible small extension sites on the edges of settlement; housing to meet
general and local needs; and, affordable housing and windfall sites.

Page 52

The application lies outside of the designated settlement boundary for St Bees, and as such,
the proposal is in conflict with Policy ST2. Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan states that
outside of the defined settlement boundaries, development is restricted to that which has a
proven requirement for such a location, including housing that meets proven specific and
local needs including provision for agricultural workers, replacement dwellings, replacement
of residential caravans, affordable housing and the conversion of rural buildings to
residential use.
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires the application of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development to the provision of housing where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the
application are out-of-date. Out of date includes where the Local Planning Authority cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as
set out in paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of
housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the
previous three years.
In November 2020, Copeland Borough Council produced a Five Year Housing Land Supply
Statement which demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites against the
emerging housing requirement calculated in the updated Strategic Housing Market
Assessment (SHMA) and a 55 year supply against the Government’s standard methodology
figure. Copeland Borough Council has also met the most recent Housing Delivery Test.
Notwithstanding the above, the policies in the Local Plan must still be considered out of
date and only some weight can be given to their content as far as they are consistent with
the provisions of the NPPF.
Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft (ECLP) ended in
December 2020. The ECLP will, once adopted, replace the policies of the adopted Local Plan.
The ECLP has been drafted based upon an evidence base. The SHMA calculates a housing
need in Copeland over the plan period 2017-2035 of 140 dwellings per annum. The ECLP
confirms that to meet the housing need identified in the SHMA, development will be
required beyond the existing development boundaries identified in Policy ST2 of the CS.
The ECLP continues to identify St Bees as a Local Service Centre reflective of the number and
type of services it contains and identifies a settlement boundary around the village. The
ECLP continues to identify the Application Site as outside but directly adjoining the revised
development boundary for St Bees. Whilst the proposed development is in conflict with the
emerging policies and provisions of the ECLP, as the document is at an early stage of
preparation and there are outstanding objections to the relevant policies applicable to this
development, the identified conflict can be given little weight at present.
In the context of the provisions of Paragraph 11, the defined development boundary for St
Bees must be considered out of date. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that planning
permission should be granted unless:

Page 53

i.
ii.

The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

The site lies on the southern edge of the built up area of St Bees, and is considered to be
within walking from the local services within the village which includes a primary school,
nursery, Church, pubs, post office, shops, and community facilities.
In applying the provisions of paragraph 11:
-

-

-

The site would assist in boosting housing supply to meet the identified need for
housing in St Bees and the wider Borough;
The proposed development comprising the erection of three dwelling is appropriate
in size to the designation of St Bees as a Local Centre in accordance with the spatial
objectives of Policy ST2;
The site adjoins the existing settlement boundary and is located adjacent to the
existing built form on the southern edge of St Bees;
The Site is located in close and convenient proximity to the services and employment
opportunities located within St Bees for which the settlement has been designated
as a Local Centre in Policy ST2 of the Local Plan. The proposed development will
support existing services and thus the aspiration of retaining these services;
Some sustainable travel options exist within the vicinity, including St Bees Train
Station and Hadrian’s Cycleway, as per the provisions of Policy DM22 of the Local
Plan.

Housing Need
Policy SS3 of the Local Plan requires housing development to demonstrate how proposals
will deliver an appropriate mix of housing as set out in the SHMA.
St Bees falls within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) of Copeland Strategic
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).
The SMHA suggest a particular focus on the delivery of three bedroom houses,
semidetached and detached houses with four or more bedrooms and bungalows and is
identified as having a high need for new affordable housing.
The illustrative site layout plan and supporting documentation outlines that the proposed
dwellings are likely to comprise of market homes.
The proposed development has the potential to assist in providing a greater balance of
market housing stock within St Bees in accordance with Policy SS3 of the CS. No affordable
housing is proposed in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 63 of the NPPF which
sets out that the provision for affordable housing should not be sought for residential
developments that are less than 10 units.
Settlement Character, Landscape Impact and Visual Impact

Page 54

Policy ENV5 states that the Borough’s landscapes will be protected and enhanced by:
protecting all landscapes from inappropriate change by ensuring that the development does
not threaten or detract from the distinctive characteristics of that particular area; that
where the benefits of the development outweigh the potential harm, ensuring that the
impact of the development on the landscape is minimised through adequate mitigation,
preferably on-site; and, supporting proposals which enhance the value of the Borough’s
landscapes.
Policy DM10 seeks that development responds positively to the character of the site and the
immediate and wider setting and enhances local distinctiveness including: an appropriate
size and arrangement of development plots; the appropriate provision, orientation,
proportion, scale and massing of buildings; and, careful attention to the design of spaces
between buildings.
The application site comprises of undeveloped land that lies on the edge of the built up area
of St Bees, adjacent to a number of existing dwellings. The land contributes positively to the
character of St Bees with particular regard to the approach to the settlement from the
south.
The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) identifies the site as being
within Sub Type 4 ‘Coastal Sandstone’. The Key Characteristics of the land comprise: coastal
sandstone cliffs, sandstone rolling hills and plateaus, large open fields, prominent hedge
banks bound pastoral fields, small woodland blocks along valley sides, and exposed coastal
edge moving to intimate and enclosed farmland inland.
The Guidelines for development include: strengthen definition between town and country
by using extensive buffer planting to screen the built up areas and reduce the impact of
industry, improve visual containment of caravan parks close to the coast with landscape
works and discourage further large scale developments, such as wind energy, in prominent
coastal locations, conserve and enhance the traditional farm buildings and features within
their own setting, and reduce the impact of any new buildings by careful siting and design.
The site comprises an area of agricultural land located to the south of St Bees, directly
adjoining the existing settlement boundary and adjacent to a number of existing residential
dwellings. This area of St Bees is characterised by detached dwellings which front onto
Nethertown Road. The proposed development would comprise an extension of the existing
developed form of the settlement to the south, which would extend the settlement in a
linear form reflecting the existing built character of this part of the village.
Whilst the development would be considered a small edge of settlement extension the
proposed site does not extend into the open countryside beyond the existing dwellings
dwelling located at a higher level on Egremont Road. Consequently it could be considered to
naturally round off this part of the settlement. The development would be viewed against
the backdrop of these existing properties. This, together with the sloping nature of the site
and the natural dip along its southern edge will help to contain and screen the development
and also give it a defined edge. Additional landscaping, which would be detailed within

Page 55

subsequent reserved matters applications, will also help to soften the potential landscape
and visual impacts of the development.
Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for
subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application
demonstrates that the site could be developed in a manner that respects the form, density
and character of the existing developments within the locality. The proposal is therefore
considered to comply with policies ST1 and ENV5 of the Copeland Local Plan and provision
of the NPPF.
Design and Impact on Residential Amenity
Within the Copeland Local Plan, Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and
section 12 of the NPPF seek to secure high standards of design for new residential
properties. These policies seek to create and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity,
and set out detailed requirements with regard to standard of residential amenity, including
the provision of parking spaces, separation distances and open space.
The application site lies adjacent to residential properties to the north and east of the site,
with open countryside to the south. The application includes indicative details of the
proposed layout only with details of the siting, scale and appearance of the dwellings
reserved for subsequent approval at the Reserved Matters stage. As submitted the
proposed plot layout does reasonably allow for adequate separation distances to be
achieved between facing elevations of the proposed and existing dwellings as required by
Policy DM12 of the Local Plan. The indicative layout also shows that the proposed dwellings
will be set back within the plots, away from the road, to reflect the existing built form along
Nethertown Road. This will help to mitigate against any impact of the development on
neighbouring properties to the north. Given the significantly elevated position of the
existing dwelling to the east of the site on Egremont Road, the proposed development is
considered to have minimal impact on the amenities of these properties. The use of suitable
boundary treatments would also help to minimise the potential impacts on the adjoining
properties. Details of the boundary treatment would be submitted at the reserved matters
planning stage.
Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for
subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application
demonstrates that a development layout is deliverable with interface separation distances
that would not result in harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring residential
dwellings through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing and overlooking. The
requirements of Policy DM12 of the Local Plan are considered achievable.
Drainage and Flood Risk
Policy ST1B(ii) and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development on sites that are
at least risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, ensure that the
risk is minimised or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and DM24 of the
Copeland Local Plan reinforces the focus of protecting development against flood risk.

Page 56

Although the application site is located within Flood Zone 1, the Council’s Flood and Coastal
Defence Engineer, Lead Local Flood Authority and United Utilities have been consulted upon
this application.
As the application is in outline form only, the agent for this application has indicated that
the site will be drained to the combined sewer on Nethertown Road and surface water will
be disposed of by soakaway. No objections have been received from any Statutory
Consultees on this matter however it has been indicated that the site should be drained on
a separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in
the most sustainable way. In line with these comments relevant conditions are proposed to
ensure an adequate drainage system can be secured to serve the site and to ensure a
surface water drainage scheme is achievable based on the hierarchy of drainage options set
out in the NPPF. These details should be secured prior to commencement of works on the
site.
The imposition of these conditions will secure proper drainage within the site and will
manage the risk of flooding and pollution, ensuring that the development complies with
Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 and the provisions of
the NPPF.
Access, Parking and Highway Safety
Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the
impact of major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of
the Copeland Local Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet
adopted car parking standards, which reflect the needs of the Borough in its rural context.
The application has been submitted in outline form only, with all matters relating to access
reserved for subsequent approvals. The application indicates that access will be achieved
from the adjoining road to the west of the site, Nethertown Road. The indicative layout
shows three individual access points for each dwelling with the provision for turning
facilities within each plot. This plan is for illustration purposes only.
Concerns have been raised by local residents and the Parish Council with regard to the
additional traffic and the impact on highway safety given the narrow width of Nethertown
Road. Notwithstanding this Cumbria Highways have offered no objections to this proposal.
The Highway Authority note that the proposed development is small in scale which
replicates and extends the current layout and arrangement of houses on the north side of
Nethertown Road. It is confirmed that the additional traffic likely to be generated by the
proposal will not have a material impact on highway conditions. Nethertown Road has no
footways however the Highway Authority note that it is only 0.5 miles to the centre of the
village, and it is therefore not considered necessary to provide a footway along to frontage
of the development as there is no connectivity available to the west and a footway would
urbanise the location further and the increased width and lack of inconsistency of provision
could impact on highway conditions. Cumbria Highways have no objections to the individual
access points for each proposed dwelling but have commented that a single shared
driveway would be possible at this site and this may be a preferable option.

Page 57

Cumbria Highways have requested a number of conditions for this site including visibility
splays, surface water discharge into the highway, and the requirement for a construction
management plan. However, as this is an outline application with all matter reserved these
issues cannot be conditioned as part of this outline application and will be addressed as part
of any subsequent reserved maters applications for this site.
Overall, it is considered that the submitted details demonstrate that the site can be
developed in a way that complies with Policies T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan and
will provide an accessible development with an acceptable parking provision.
Planning Balance
The application site is located outside of the settlement boundary for St Bees as defined in
Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan.
For the reasons outlined, in assessing the proposed development, Paragraph 11 of the NPPF
is engaged with the policies of the Development Plan which are most important for
determining the application are to be considered out of date and it required that planning
permission be granted unless:
-

the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

The proposed development is in clear conflict with the provisions of Policy ST2 of the Local
Plan with regard to the location outside the settlement boundary for St Bees; however,
given the importance of this policy to the determination of the application and its level of
conformity with the NPPF, only limited weight can be given to this conflict in decision taking.
As the ECLP is at an early stage of preparation and there are outstanding objections to the
relevant policies applicable to this development, this can be given little weight at present.
The development will assist in boosting housing supply within St Bees, is of an appropriate
scale for the Local Centre, will support the retention of existing services locally, and benefits
from some sustainable travel options in accordance with the spatial objectives of the Local
Plan. Whilst the development by virtue of its location would have some impacts on the
existing character of the southern edge of the village, the small scale proposal has been
designed to respect the character and built form of this area of the settlement. The
development is considered to be an extension to the settlement, rounding off this southern
part of the village, and would be viewed against the existing built form of St Bees, limiting its
impacts. Additional landscaping could also be secured to soften the southern edge of the
application site.

Conclusion

Page 58

On balance, whilst some conflicts are identified it is considered that these are collectively
not sufficiently harmful to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the identified benefits
of the development, which would include: the provision of housing in a sustainable location,
and supporting local services when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a
whole.

Recommendation:Approve in Outline subject to the following conditions.

Conditions
Standard Conditions
1. The layout, scale, appearance, access and landscaping must be approved by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended
by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. Detailed plans and drawings with respect to the matters reserved for subsequent
approval must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within three years of the
date of this permission and the development hereby permitted must be commenced
not later than the later of the following dates:a)

The expiration of THREE years from the date of this permission

Or
b)

The expiration of TWO years from the final approval of the reserved matters
or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last
such matter to be approved.

Reason
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to
comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3. This permission relates to the following plans and documents as received on the
respective dates and development must be carried out in accordance with them:-

Page 59

a. Site Location Plan, Scale 1:1250, received by the Local Planning Authority on
the 1st December 2020.
b. Planning Statement, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 1 st
December 2020.
Reason
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Pre Commencement Conditions
4. Before development commences full details of the foul and surface water drainage
scheme must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The approved scheme must become operational before the development is brought
into use and must be so maintained thereafter.
Reason
To ensure the provision of a satisfactory drainage scheme in accordance with the
provision of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028.

5. Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage scheme,
based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice
Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the
scheme shall be managed after completion) must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public
sewerage system either directly or indirectly.
SUDS and especially surface features such as rain gardens, swales and basins that
provide amenity and treatment benefits to deal with water 'naturally' shall be
prioritised in the design.
The development must be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason

Page 60

To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the
risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the provision of Policy ENV1 and
Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028.
Other Conditions
6. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. Foul water should be
draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way.
Reason
To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution in
accordance with the provision of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local
Plan 2013 – 2028.
7. This permission gives outline approval for a maximum of three dwellings only at this
site.
Reason
To ensure an appropriate form of development at this site in accordance with the
provisions of Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.
Statement
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning
policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4d

To: PLANNING PANEL

Development Control Section

Date of Meeting: 03/03/2021

Application Number:

4/21/2007/0F1

Application Type:

Full : CBC

Applicant:

Mr Paul MacDonald

Application Address:

LAND TO REAR OF 29 MID STREET, KELLS,
WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

ERECTION OF A GARAGE

Parish:

Whitehaven

Recommendation Summary:

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Page 63

Crown Copyright. Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005).

Reason For Determination By Planning Panel
This application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the
proposal relates to a garage site which is owned by the Council.

Site and Location
This application relates to an area of land to the rear of 29 Mid Street, located within the
Kells area of Whitehaven. The site is currently occupied by a number of small detached
garages and is known as the Mid Street Garage Block.

Proposal
Planning Permission is sought for the erection of a pre-fabricated garage, adjacent to an
existing garage. The proposed garage will measure 3.2 metres in width and 6.17 metres in
length, with a mono-pitched roof and an overall height of 2.21m with an eaves height of
1.98 metres. The front elevation will include the garage door. All other elevations will be

Page 64

blank. The garage will be coated with a spar pebbledash exterior finish, a galvanized steel
roof with Grafo-Therm and a white horizontal rib up-and-over door.

Relevant Planning Application History
There have been several previous approved applications for garages on this site.

Consultation Responses
Whitehaven Town Council
No objections.
Highways Authority
No objections.
Lead Local Flood Authority
No objections.
Public Representations
Public representations for this application have been advertised by way of site notice and
neighbour notification letters issued to 3 no. properties
No objections have been received as a result of the consultation.

Planning Policies
Planning law requires applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan
Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)
Core Strategy
Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles
Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy
Development Management Policies (DMP)
Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place
Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments
Other Material Planning Considerations

Page 65

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDG)
Emerging Copeland Local Plan (ELP):
The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 was recently the subject of a Preferred
Options Consultation. The Preferred Options Consultation builds upon the completed Issues
and Options Consultation, which finished in January 2020. Given the stage of preparation,
the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has only limited weight in decision making,
but provides an indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which
themselves have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Assessment
The key issues raised by this proposal are the principle of development, its siting, scale and
design, the potential impacts on residential amenity and highway safety.
Principle of Development
Policy ST2 defines Whitehaven as the Principal Town within Copeland which seeks to direct
development to the most sustainable locations.
The proposal includes development within an existing garage site, which is located within
the Kells area and falls within the settlement boundary of Whitehaven. On this basis, the
proposal represents an appropriate form of development in this location, consistent in
principle with the provisions of Policy ST2 of the Local Plan.
Siting, Scale and Design
Policy ST1 and section 12 of the NPPF seek to promote high quality designs. Policy DM10
seeks to ensure high standards of design are maintained, with appropriate scale and
materials, responding to the character of the site.
The proposed garage will be located adjacent to an existing garage and it will be modest in
scale. The design respects the character of the overall site, which comprises a collection of
small garage units. Externally, the buildings will be finished in pebble dashed panels, with a
metal garage door and a galvanised steel roof. These materials are considered to be
appropriate in this location.
On this basis, the proposal is typical of the area and it is considered to meet Policy DM10
and the NPPF guidance.
Residential Amenity
Policy ST1, DM10 and section 12 of the NPPF seek to safeguard good levels of residential
amenity.

Page 66

Due to the proposed location to the rear of Mid Street and its relationship with the
neighbouring dwellings adjoining the site, it is considered that there will be no detrimental
impact on residential amenity. The garage will not include any windows to overlook
neighbouring properties and it is not materially different from the other existing garages on
the site. It is however appropriate to attach a planning condition to ensure that the use of
the garage remains domestic in nature and that non-conforming uses are not introduced
into the area.
On this basis, the garage is considered to comply with Policy DM10 of the Local Plan.
Highway Safety
Policy DM22 requires developments to be accessible to all users and encourages innovative
approaches to manage vehicular access and parking to avoid vehicles dominating the street
scene.
The garage will be located on an existing garage site with a suitable access off an
unclassified road. The Highways Authority have raised no objections to the proposal as it is
unlikely the addition of one garage on the site will have an adverse impacts on the existing
highway conditions. On this basis, the proposed garages are considered to meet Policy
DM22.
Planning Balance and Conclusion
The proposed garage is of an appropriate design and would not have any detrimental
impact on the amenities of the surrounding residential properties. In addition, the proposal
would not have any adverse impact on existing highway conditions and highway safety.
Overall, the proposal is considered to be an acceptable form of development for this
existing garage site and accords with the policies set out within the adopted Local Plan and
the guidance in the NPPF.

Recommendation:Approve subject to the following conditions:-

Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted must commence before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason
To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Page 67

2.

This permission relates to the following plans and documents as received on the
respective dates and development must be carried out in accordance with them: Location Plan, scale 1:1250, received 6th January 2021;
Block Plan, scale 1:500, received 6th January 2021;
Proposed Elevations, received 6th January 2021;
Proposed Layout Plan, received 6th January 2021;
Proposed Garage Specifications, received 6th January 2021.
Reason
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3.

The garage must be used for the parking of private vehicles and the storage of
domestic equipment only and for no commercial or business purposes whatsoever.
Reason
To ensure that non conforming uses are not introduced into the area.

Informative
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain unrecorded
coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered during development,
this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848.
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at:
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority

Statement
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning
policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 68

Agenda Item 5
Planning Panel 030321
DELEGATED DECISIONS
Lead Officer:

Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager

To inform Members of the Delegated Decisions made in the period
6 February 2021 to 19 February 2021.

Recommendation:

That the List of Delegated Decisions be noted.

Resource Implications: Nil
1. The Planning Development Manager has delegated authority to
determine Planning Applications as stated in Chapter 10 of the Council’s
Constitution.
2. It is a requirement that the Planning Development Manager report
details of all applications determined under delegated powers to the
Planning Panel.
3. Attached is a list of Delegated Decisions made in the period
6 February 2021 to 19 February 2021.

Contact Officer:

Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager

Appendix:

List of Delegated Decisions

Background Papers:

Page 69

Application Num 4/20/2429/0R1
Applicant

RGG Developments Limited, Clarack House, MOOR ROW,
Cumbria,

Location

PLOT 14, RUSPER DRIVE, MOOR ROW

Proposal

RESERVED MATTERS APPLICATION FOR SINGLE DWELLING

Decision

Approve Reserved Matters

Decision Date

12 February 2021

Parish

Egremont

Application Num 4/20/2454/0F1
Applicant

Mr and Mrs Robertson, 3 Middle Gill Barns, Howgate,
WHITEHAVEN, Cumbria CA28 6PP,

Location

3 MIDDLE GILL BARNS, HOWGATE, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

NEW DETACHED BUILDING FOR GARAGE TO STORE
CARAVAN AND HOUSEHOLD CARS AND NEW GARDEN ROOM

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

12 February 2021

Parish

Distington

Application Num 4/20/2454/0F1
Applicant

Mr and Mrs Robertson, 3 Middle Gill Barns, Howgate,
WHITEHAVEN, Cumbria CA28 6PP,

Location

3 MIDDLE GILL BARNS, HOWGATE, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

NEW DETACHED BUILDING FOR GARAGE TO STORE
CARAVAN AND HOUSEHOLD CARS AND NEW GARDEN ROOM

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

12 February 2021

Parish

Moresby

Application Num 4/20/2503/0F1
Applicant

Mr Andrew Abbott, The Cottage, Standing Stones Farm,
Kirksanton, MILLOM, Cumbria LA18 4NW,

Location

STANDING STONES COTTAGE, KIRKSANTON, MILLOM

Proposal

REAR EXTENSION CONSISTING OF OPEN PLAN
KITCHEN/DINING AND SITTING ROOM

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

10 February 2021

Parish

Whicham

Application Num 4/20/2473/0B1
Applicant

Mr Nigel Kay, Sea Breeze, Nethertown, EGREMONT, Cumbria
CA22 2UH,

Page 70

Location

PLOT 49, BIRKS ROAD, CLEATOR MOOR

Proposal

VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 OF PLANNING APPROVAL
4/20/2155/0R1 TO AMEND DWELLING TYPE FOR PLOT 49 TO
SINGLE STOREY IN HEIGHT

Decision

Approve

Decision Date

15 February 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/20/2497/0F1
Applicant

Victoria and Philippa Christie, 77 Coronation Drive,
FRIZINGTON, Cumbria CA26 3SE,

Location

77 CORONATION DRIVE, FRIZINGTON

Proposal

TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

8 February 2021

Parish

Arlecdon and Frizington

Application Num 4/20/2476/0F1
Applicant

Riversdale Homes, 44 Oxford Road, ALTRINCHAM, Cheshire
WA14 2EB, FAO Mr Martin Parker,

Location

GROVE COURT HOTEL, CLEATOR

Proposal

PROPOSED REDEVELOPMENT OF AN EXISTING HOTEL TO
ACCOMMODATE 13 SUPPORTED LIVING UNITS, ALONG WITH
ASSOCIATED COMMUNAL FACILITIES AND STAFF OFFICE
SPACES

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

18 February 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/20/2488/0R1
Applicant

Mr and Mrs Simon Kay, Ennerdale View, Birks Road, CLEATOR
MOOR, Cumbria CA25 5HT,

Location

PLOT 21, BIRKS ROAD, CLEATOR MOOR

Proposal

APPROVAL OF RESERVED MATTERS FOR A DWELLING
RELATING TO APPEARANCE, LANDSCAPING, LAYOUT AND
SCALE FOLLOWING PREVIOUS APPROVAL OF OUTLINE
APPLICATION REFERENCE 4/16/2315/0O1

Decision

Approve Reserved Matters

Decision Date

15 February 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/20/2485/DOC

Page 71

Applicant

Mr Kevin Wirga, Brandle How, Gilgarran, WORKINGTON,
Cumbria CA14 4RF,

Location

PLOTS 3 & 4, LAND ADJACENT TO PINEWOODS, GILGARRAN

Proposal

DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 & 9 (DRAINAGE
STRATEGY, PHASE TWO G.I. REPORT & ARBORICULTURAL
REPORT) OF APPROVED OUTLINE APPLICATION
4/18/2178/0O1

Decision

Approve

Decision Date

10 February 2021

Parish

Distington

Application Num 4/20/2499/0F1
Applicant

Mr Dean Vaughan, 7 Lansdowne Grove, Hillcrest,
WHITEHAVEN, Cumbria CA28 6TD,

Location

7 LANSDOWNE GROVE, HILLCREST, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

CONSTRUCTION OF NEW SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO
REAR OF EXISTING DWELLING

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

9 February 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/20/2500/0F1
Applicant

Clare & Michael Kumur and Farrell, 98 Bransty Road,
WHITEHAVEN, Cumbria CA28 6HF,

Location

98 BRANSTY ROAD, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

ALTERATION AND EXTENSION FOR ACCESSIBLE BATHROOM
AND BEDROOM

Decision

Withdrawn

Decision Date

11 February 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/20/2509/0F1
Applicant

Mr and Mrs Dowler, 17 Horsfield Close, WHITEHAVEN,
Cumbria CA28 8UA,

Location

17 HORSFIELD CLOSE, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

SIDE EXTENSION TO EXISTING DWELLING

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

10 February 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/20/2511/0F1
Applicant

Mr Carl McNicholas, 2 White Park, White Park, WHITEHAVEN,

Page 72

Cumbria

CA28 7PX,

Location

2 WHITE PARK, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

ERECTION OF GARDEN SUMMER HOUSE IN FRONT GARDEN
(3M WIDE X 4M LONG WITH MAXIMUM EXTERNAL HEIGHT OF
2.5M) FINISHED WITH CEDAR CLADDING

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

12 February 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/20/2513/0F1
Applicant

Mrs Jane Fitzwilliam, 4 Oaklands, EGREMONT, Cumbria
CA22 2NX,

,

Location

THE OLD VICARAGE, OAKLANDS, BECKERMET

Proposal

CHANGE OF USE FROM FORMER BED AND BREAKFAST TO
RESIDENTIAL STATUS

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

12 February 2021

Parish

Beckermet with Thornhill

Application Num 4/20/2512/0F1
Applicant

Mr Mick Robertson, Shorelinks, Nethertown Road, ST BEES,
Cumbria CA27 0AY,

Location

SHORELINKS, NETHERTOWN ROAD, ST BEES

Proposal

NEW SUNROOM TO REPLACE EXISTING CONSERVATORY

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

12 February 2021

Parish

St. Bees

Application Num 4/20/2519/0F1
Applicant

Mr James Morgan, 5 Basket Road, WHITEHAVEN, Cumbria
CA28 9AJ,

Location

5 BASKET ROAD, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

17 February 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Page 73

Application Num 4/20/2515/0F1
Applicant

Mr Philip Reid, 7 Solway Rise, ST BEES, Cumbria

Location

7 SOLWAY RISE, ST BEES

Proposal

SIDE AND REAR EXTENSION

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

15 February 2021

Parish

St. Bees

CA27 0EZ,

Application Num 4/20/2520/0F1
Applicant

Mr and Mrs Atkinson, 3 Rosemary Close, WHITEHAVEN,
Cumbria CA28 6JH,

Location

3 ROSEMARY CLOSE, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

CONVERSION OF LOWER GROUND FLOOR AND REAR
BALCONY

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

17 February 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2015/0F1
Applicant

Mrs Anne Irvine, 29 East Road, Egremont, CA22 2ED,

Location

29 EAST ROAD, EGREMONT

Proposal

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING SUNROOM & CONSTRUCTION OF
A DETACHED SUNROOM TO THE REAR OF THE GARDEN

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

18 February 2021

Parish

Egremont

Application Num 4/21/2021/TPO
Applicant

Home Group Ltd, Anthorne House, Irish Street, Maryport,
CA15 8AD, FAO Mrs Ruth Walsh,

Location

LAND ADJACENT TO 35 EHEN COURT ROAD, EGREMONT

Proposal

APPLICATION FOR WORKS ON VARIOUS TREES PROTECTED
BY A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER

Decision

TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE

Decision Date

18 February 2021

Parish

Egremont

Page 74

Application Num 4/21/2020/TPO
Applicant

Home group Ltd, Anothrone House, Irish Street, Maryport,
CA15 8AD, FAO Mrs Ruth Walsh,

Location

LAND AT OAKLANDS, BECKERMET

Proposal

APPLICATION FOR WORKS ON VARIOUS TREES THAT ARE
PROTECTED BY A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER

Decision

TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE

Decision Date

18 February 2021

Parish

Beckermet with Thornhill

Application Num 4/21/2020/TPO
Applicant

Home group Ltd, Anothrone House, Irish Street, Maryport,
CA15 8AD, FAO Mrs Ruth Walsh,

Location

LAND AT OAKLANDS, BECKERMET

Proposal

APPLICATION FOR WORKS ON VARIOUS TREES THAT ARE
PROTECTED BY A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER

Decision

TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE

Decision Date

18 February 2021

Parish

Haile

Application Num 4/21/2022/TPO
Applicant

Home Group Ltd, Anthorne House, Irish Street, Maryport,
CA15 8AD, FAO Mrs Ruth Walsh,

Location

ST JAMES COURT, HIGH STREET, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

APPLICATION FOR WORKS ON VARIOUS TREES WITHIN A
CONSERVATION AREA

Decision

TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE

Decision Date

18 February 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

